)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

11-30 SID 🖊. WHITE NOV. 5 1992 LERK, SUPREME COURT By\_

Chief Deputy Clerk

CARL HOLLINGER,

Petitioner,

vs.

DCA CASE NO. 91-1638

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 79,800

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

S.C. VAN VOORHEES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 109503 112 Orange Ave., Ste. A DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the trial level this was a possession-of-cocaine case (R 44) in which the defendant threw down cocaine upon approach of police officers wearing SWAT regalia. (R 6) The trial court granted a defense motion to suppress. (R 36) The State of Florida appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R 60) The issue on appeal was whether the cocaine had been abandoned, and therefore legally seized by the police, or been the fruit of an illegal detention and therefore suppressible.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court's decision to grant the motion to suppress. In doing so they took the position that even though the detention might be illegal, evidence discovered as a result should not be suppressed unless it had come to light through some <u>additional</u> illegal action of the police (such as an illegal search) during the course of the illegal detention.

The 5th DCA acknowledged conflict to the extent it's ruling was contrary to named precedents. <u>State v. Hollinger</u>, Fla. 5th DCA, 17 FLW D863 (April 3, 1992).

The Appellant filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on May 1, 1992. Jurisdictional pleadings were filed, and this Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated October 13, 1992.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 20, 1991, at approximately 9:45 p.m., the drug unit of the Orange County Sheriff's Office was conducting a "sweep". (R 4-5) When the two unmarked police cars pulled into the parking lot, the Petitioner was standing alone in the center of the paved area and three or four other persons were located on a nearby porch. Another group was situated at the north end of the lot. (R 5) A total of seven or eight drug unit officers known locally as the "Duke Boys" took part in the raid. (R 10) They were operating as a take-down arrest team. (R 25) They were all wearing SWAT-team-type uniforms consisting of black masks, bullet-proof vests, smocks, gun belts, handcuffs and flashlights. (R 10)

Deputy Hanton's police unit pulled to a stop about ten feet from the defendant. (R 6) Hanton stepped forth from the car wearing a full SWAT costume (R 10) and carrying a 13-inch aluminum alloy flashlight (R 13). He announced to all present that he was a deputy sheriff. (R 5) Another police unit containing several team members in SWAT regalia was engaging other people in the parking lot. (R 25) After exiting his car and bellowing "Orange County Sheriff's Office", Hanton walked directly toward the defendant (R 6). The defendant stayed right where he was. As Hanton neared the defendant, he saw the defendant place his hand behind his back and observed a white tissue fall to the ground. (R 12) The tissue was recovered and contained six rocks of cocaine. (R 8)

Deputy Hanton was the only witness who testified at the suppression hearing. The state argued that there was no detention and that the defendant had abandoned the cocaine. (R 28-29, 34-35) The court announced its ruling rejecting the state's position at the conclusion of the hearing:

> It appears to me from all the evidence that's been presented at this point that we do have an illegal detention here.

We've got two police vehicles there, undercover vehicles that come up to a rather confined area; seven or eight officers exit those in SWAT regalia, with the masks, announce that they are Orange County Sheriff's Office.

The officer begins a direction toward a crowd beyond the defendant, but clearly in the direction of the defendant. I think a reasonable person under those circumstances would feel that he was not to move, and I, there being no basis for a stop or a detention, I think we have an illegal detention at this point.

Motion to suppress will be granted. (R 36) On appeal, the State argued that the trial court's decision is consistent with the decisions of the Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal in Florida and the recent decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>California v. Hodari</u>, 113 L.Ed.2d 690 (1991).

The defendant agreed that, to some extent, the trial court's decision granting the motion to suppress <u>was</u> in conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Curry v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). However, the defendant argued that <u>Curry</u> was in conflict with reason, justice and named prece-

dents, and urged the court to recede from that decision, or, if they chose not to recede from <u>Curry</u> and did reverse the trial court's decision, then to certify a conflict between the District Courts.

The Fifth DCA rejected the defendant's argument, holding that their decision in <u>Curry</u> was controlling. They did, however, acknowledge conflict to the extent that other named District Court opinions were to the contrary.

A notice of intent to seek discretionary review was timely filed. This proceeding follows.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case conflicts with cases of other District Court's wherein a different result was reached on essentially the same facts, so as to cause confusion among precedents.

#### ISSUE

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, IN <u>STATE V.</u> <u>HOLLINGER</u>, 17 FLW 863 (5th DCA April 3, 1992), EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH FEDERAL PRECEDENT AND OTHER DIS-TRICT COURT DECISIONS.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, protects citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures by government The courts have developed an exclusionary rule to agencies. enforce these protections by preventing the admission of evidence obtained through an illegal search or seizure. Running contrary to this policy is a developing rationale of the Fifth District Court of Appeal exemplified by the recent decisions of <u>Curry v.</u> State 570 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), and State v. Hollinger, 17 FLW D863 (5th DCA April 3. 1992). Under the reasoning of these cases, the state is free to use evidence obtained pursuant to an illegal detention as long as it is not derived from an illegal search. This approach essentially eviscerates the protection offered to citizens against unreasonable seizures by the United States and Florida Constitutions by making exclusionary rules inapplicable to illegal seizures.

Section 901.151, Florida Statutes (1989), the Florida Stop and Frisk Law, provides that in order to justify even a temporary detention, a police officer must have a founded suspicion that the person has committed, is committing or is about to commit a crime. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the trial court found that there was an illegal detention of the defendant by officers of

the state, and granted the defendant's motion to suppress the evidence recovered pursuant to this illegal detention.

The trial court's decision is consistent with decisions of other Florida Appellate Courts which have held that when a police officer stops a defendant in his tracks without founded suspicion, and the defendant drops something, "The state's abandonment theory is not persuasive". Spann v. State, 529 So.2d 825, 826 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) (Where officer's order to "freeze" issued without reasonable suspicion caused the defendant to drop cocaine); Wallace v. State, 540 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (No abandonment arose where the officer, without well-founded suspicion, ordered defendant to reveal what was in his hand, and defendant spilled the contents of bottle on ground); Anderson v. State, 576 So.2d 319 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) (Abandonment which is product of illegal stop is involuntary and abandoned property must be suppressed). State v. Fortunato, 581 So.2d 651 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) (Where defendant was stopped without probable cause and ordered to lie on the ground at gun point, evidence was properly suppressed because this was a "stop then drop" case as opposed to a "drop then stop case"); Grant v. State, 596 So.2d 98 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (Where stop was without reasonable suspicion it was unlawful, and because the defendant had submitted to the stop before the officer saw him discard the bottle, the evidence was to be suppressed as the product of an illegal seizure).

The defendant acknowledges that the United States Supreme Court has provided new authority since some of the cases cited

above in <u>California v. Hodari</u>, 113 L.Ed.2d 690 (1991), however, in reaching their decision in the case presently under consideration, the Fifth District Court of Appeal misreads <u>Hodari</u> as being supportive of their position. On the contrary, <u>Hodari</u> compels the Fifth DCA to reject the notion that only when police begin an actual physical search on a suspect does abandonment become involuntary and tainted by an illegal seizure.

In the instant case the defendant did not flee, but remained riveted to the same spot on the earth's surface from the time the officer announced that he was a sheriff's deputy until he was The U.S. Supreme Court in Hodari has drawn a clear arrested. distinction between those defendant's who yield to the authority of the police and those defendant's who flee. A person who flees from a show of authority has manifestly not been seized by it in any meaningful way. (See State v. Wilson, 595 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). Conversely, a person who does not flee and instead remains fixed in place and submissive to the officer's show of authority has been effectively seized by it. This distinction is seen as critical in determining whether a <u>Mendenhall-type</u> seizure by show of authority has occurred. Hodari at 699. In Hodari, the defendant discarded evidence while the police were chasing him. Id. at 695. The United States Supreme Court affirmed the denial of the defendant's motion to suppress the evidence. Id. at 699. The Court held that evidence discarded by a suspect fleeing from the police should not be suppressed because, since factually there has been no detention, the evidence can not be

the product of an illegal detention. Nowhere in the Hodari opinion does the Court imply that evidence discarded by a defendant during an actual illegal seizure should not be suppressed. They have set out no requirement that evidence must become the fruit of an illegal search conducted pursuant to that illegal seizure before it becomes suppressible. Thus, by refusing to suppress evidence discovered as a result of an illegal detention, Hollinger goes beyond the limits imposed by the Hodari Court and is inconsistent with the interpretation of the Fourth Amendment of the United States Supreme Court. Under Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, Florida Appellate Courts are mandated to decide Fourth Amendment issues in conformity with the decisions of the United States Supreme Court. Accordingly, this Court's decision in Hollinger is inconsistent with both the United States and Florida Constitution and this Court should recede from that decision and affirm the ruling below.

The Florida Supreme Court has construed <u>Hodari</u> and related federal authorities in the case of <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 591 So.2d 611 (Fla.1992), saying that an abandonment which is the product of an illegal stop is involuntary, and the abandoned property must be suppressed.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal further misconstrues <u>Hodari</u> in asserting that <u>Hodari</u> mandates them to find that Appellee was not seized in the instant case. Such is not the case. In <u>Hodari</u>, the Court held that a seizure occurs when either physical force is used, or where that is absent, there is

submission to a show of authority. <u>Hodari</u> at 697. Furthermore, in the absence of the use of physical force, <u>Hodari</u> acknowledges that the objective test established in <u>U.S. v. Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. 544, 64 L.Ed.2d 497, 100 S.C.t 1870 (1981), is appropriate in determining if a seizure has been effectuated by a show of authority. <u>Hodari</u> at 698. This test is an objective one in the sense that, if a reasonable person would not believe that he was free to leave, a seizure has occurred. <u>Mendenhall</u> at 555. In the instant case, although the defendant was not physically seized, the trial court correctly found that, under the particular facts of this case, the defendant submitted to a show of police authority by staying put as the officer approached him:

> THE COURT: It appears to me from all the evidence that has been presented at this point that we do have an illegal detention here. We have two police vehicles, undercover vehicles that come up to a rather confined area; seven or eight officers exit those in SWAT team regalia, with the masks, and announce that they are with the Orange County Sheriff's Office. The officer begins a direction towards a crowd beyond the defendant, but clearly in the direction of the defen-I think a reasonable person under dant. those circumstances would feel that he was not to move, and I, there being no basis for a stop or detention think we have a legal detention at this point. (R 36)

The trial court finding that the police conduct was sufficient for a reasonable person to believe they were not free to leave, and the defendant correspondingly not moving, satisfies the objective test set forth in <u>Mendenhall</u>.

The most chilling language in the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion in <u>Hollinger</u> is the following:

Even assuming, arguendo, that Appellee was illegally detained, Appellee precipitately discarded the cocaine by dropping the tissue containing the cocaine in order to prevent the officers from finding incriminating evidence upon his person. This abandonment was voluntary because it was not in response to any police request or command. By discarding the tissue Appellee forfeited all expectation of constitutional protection which he may have claimed regarding possession of the tissue and its contents.

The above analysis set forth by the Fifth DCA has ominous repercussions where the fundamental liberties of the people living in this district are concerned. The Fifth DCA is stating that there is no protection of the exclusionary rule to prevent law enforcement from conducting unlawful detention. The Fifth DCA's reading of the Fourth Amendment is simple: Only where physical searches are done by police does the Fourth Amendment apply. This rationale is opposite to the U.S. Supreme Court's holdings in <u>Mendenhall</u> and <u>Hodari</u> and the reasoning of the Florida Supreme Court in <u>State V. Anderson</u>, 591 So.2d 611 (Fla. 1992). It is an assault on contemporary notions of liberty and freedom in this country.

In conclusion, the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case is in direct conflict with decisions of other District Courts of Appeal. The opinion also ignores case law from the United States Supreme Court and allows for police to conduct unlawful detention of suspects without the protection of the exclusionary rule to suppress evidence that is obtained as a result of that detention. This Court should vacate the decision of the Fifth DCA, and in so doing restore full

Fourth Amendment protection to the citizens of the Fifth DCA.



### CONCLUSION

For the reasons expressed herein, the defendant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court vacate the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal herein.