#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in this case The mere mention of other cases which presents to conflict. might have reached a different result does not create conflict. appellate court are all by the mentioned The cases distinguishable on their facts, so it is understandable that those cases may have reached contrary rulings. But the Fifth DCA ruling in the instant case does not create conflict.

The decision below does accurately apply the United States Supreme Court's decisions which define when a seizure has occurred. Based on the facts presented, and applying the current federal law, the Fifth DCA properly concluded that the police never seized the defendant prior to his voluntary abandonment of his cocaine. Nor did the police do anything which led the defendant to submit or yield to a show of police authority.

In short, the Fifth DCA properly applied the law to the sole issue before it -- whether there was an illegal seizure prior to the defendant dropping his cocaine. The court held that there was no seizure, and that ruling is a true and correct application of the current law to the facts of the instant case. Therefore, this court should affirm the ruling of the Fifth District Court Of Appeal.

- 1 -

#### ARGUMENT

### POINT ON APPEAL

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY APPLIED CALIFORNIA V. HODARI, FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO SEIZURE OF THE DEFENDANT PRIOR TO HIS ABANDONMENT OF THE CRACK COCAINE.

This case comes before this court based on the possibility that the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in *State v. Hollinger*, 596 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992)<sup>1</sup> might be in conflict with other Districts. In its opinion published April 3, 1992, the Fifth District Court stated that "[t]o the extent *Cox v. State*, 586 So.2d 1321 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); *Wallace v. State*, 540 So.2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); and *Spann v. State*, 529 So.2d 825 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988) are contrary, we acknowledge conflict." *Hollinger* at 522. Despite what the Fifth District Court stated, however, there is no conflict between the holding in *Hollinger* and any other case decided in Florida.

The issue before the Fifth DCA in *Hollinger* was a narrow one -- whether the defendant was illegally detained before he dropped the crack cocaine. *Id*. The trial court ruled that, based on the facts, a reasonable person would feel that he was not free to go. (Appendix B, p. 36)<sup>2</sup>. Therefore, the defendant was illegally detained prior to dropping the crack. (Appendix A, p. 36). The trial judge never examined whether the abandonment

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Fifth District Court opinion is attached to this brief and identified as Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The transcript of the suppression hearing, held July 16, 1991, is attached to this brief and identified as Appendix B.

might be voluntary in spite of an illegal detention. He rested his ruling solely on his determination that the police illegally detained the defendant before the defendant abandoned the cocaine.

Based on the lower court's ruling, the sole issue before the appellate court was whether the defendant had been illegally detained. See Hollinger at 522. The appellate court turned to the United States Supreme Court decision in California v. Hodari D., \_ U.S. \_, 111 S.Ct. 1547, 113 L.Ed.2d 690 (1991) to determine whether the police had in fact seized the defendant. Relying on the U.S. Supreme Court's definition of seizure, the appellate court held that there had not been a seizure at all, either legal or illegal.

The *Hodari* decision is relatively short and direct. It examines what necessarily defines a seizure of a person. The Court pointed out that the clear meaning of the word seizure is the actual taking of physical possession of the person. *Hodari* at 1549-1550. But because the defendant had never been physically touched by the police before he abandoned the contraband, the Court looked to see what else was required to constitute a seizure, such as a "show of authority". *Id*. (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19, n. 16 (1968)). For purposes of the Court's analysis, the Court assumed that the police officer's foot pursuit of the defendant was a "show of authority". *Id*. But the analysis did not stop there.

The Court went on to decide whether a seizure occurred, even when there is a "show of authority", if the defendant does not

- 3 -

yield to such a "show of authority". *Id*. For this purpose, the Court looked to the definition of **seizure** given in the earlier case of *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed.2d 497 (1980). In *Mendenhall*, the Court established that the test of whether there was a seizure due to a "show of authority" is an objective one which looks to what a reasonable person would have believed. *Id*. at 1551. In other words, the show of authority must be words and actions that would convey to a reasonable person that he was not free to go. But the Court pointed out that the *Mendenhall* test is only one aspect of the determination of whether there was an unlawful seizure.

The Court went on to describe the kind of situation which did not convey the message that a person was not free to go. For instance, a police cruiser slowly following a defendant "did not convey the message that he was not free to disregard the police and go about his business." *Hodari* at 1552 (citing *Michigan v. Chesternut*, 486 U.S. 567, 108 S.Ct. 1975, 100 L.Ed.2d 565 (1988)). And, while police cars with flashing lights in a lengthy chase was clearly a "show of authority", it did not produce a seizure solely by that "show of authority". *Hodari* at 1552 (citing *Brower v. Inyo*, 489 U.S. 593, 109 S.Ct. 1378, 103 L.Ed.2d 628 (1989)).

In short, the Court held that in cases where there is not an actual physical seizure, a mere "show of authority" is not enough to constitute a seizure. There must additionally be some submission to an act of authority, or a yielding to the authority. So, even assuming that the police chasing the defendant constituted adequate "show of authority", because the

- 4 -

defendant did not submit or yield to anything the officer did, there was no seizure until the police physically tackled the defendant. *Hodari* at 1552.

The Fifth DCA applied, quite properly, the *Hodari* rule in the instant case. The very narrow issue before the Fifth DCA was whether there was a seizure. The evidence clearly showed that the police never physically touched the defendant before he threw down the cocaine. (Appendix B, p. 5-8). So, the question facing the court was whether there was actual submission or yielding to a "show of authority". Applying *Hodari*, the Fifth DCA determined that, by law, there was no seizure.

In the instant case, the "show of authority" consisted of the police officers getting out of their cars dressed in clearly marked police attire and identifying themselves as police officers. (Appendix B, p. 5-8). Then one officer began to walk in the general direction of the defendant, without saying anything to the defendant. (Appendix B, p. 5-8). Before the officer directed the defendant to do anything -- in fact, before the officer could say or do anything at all -- the defendant threw down his crack cocaine. (Appendix B, p. 5-8).

Based on those facts, the Fifth DCA looked to see if there was, by law, a seizure prior to the defendant's abandonment of the cocaine. Applying the definitions and analysis of *Hodari*, the appellate court stated

We reject the conclusion that appellee was illegally seized. To constitute a seizure there must be either application of physical force by the officer or submission by the

- 5 -

suspect to a show of authority. (cite to *Hodari* omitted). In the instant case, Hanton applied no physical force on appellee nor did appellee submit to any show of authority.

State v. Hollinger, 596 So. 2d 521, 522 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In reaching that determination, the appellate court relied on the facts that "Hanton initially said nothing else to appellee other than identifying himself -- he neither ordered appellee to drop the tissue nor to drop whatever was in appellee's hand." *Id*.

Just as in *Hodari*, there was no submission or yielding to any police action. The fact that the defendant threw down his cocaine when he merely saw the arrival of police officers did not constitute submission or yielding to a show of police authority. It was the voluntary act of the defendant without any exercise of authority by the police officers.

Petitioner Hollinger attempts to find conflict based on some of the *obiter dicta* found in the appellate court opinion. In the decision, the court remarks that even if there was an illegal detention, the defendant's decision to discard the cocaine "was voluntary because it was not in response to any police request or command." *Hollinger* at 522. It is important for this court to note, however, that this statement is clearly dictum, since it was unnecessary in reaching the outcome of the case. In fact, it does not even go to the issue before the court.

Obiter dicta is not binding authority and therefore cannot provide express and direct conflict between decisions. *Ciongoli v. State*, 337 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 1976); see also, Jenkins v. State, 385 So.

- 6 ~

2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986); Continental Assuranse Co. v. Carroll, 485 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1986).

Even if it were not dictum, the court's statement is not a misstatement of the law. Nor does it create conflict. This verv in State v. Anderson, 591 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 1992). court, acknowledged the legal principle that "a criminal defendant's voluntary abandonment of evidence can remove the taint of an illegal stop or arrest". Id. at 613 (citing United States v. Beck, The Fifth DCA likewise (5th Cir. 1979)). 602 F.2d 726 acknowledged that principle -- that even the taint of an illegal seizure can dissipate so as to make an abandonment voluntary. That See Curry v. State, 570 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). principle is not new, nor has it been overruled by Anderson. So, the appellate court's mere acknowledgment of the principle, in dicta, cannot amount to conflict requiring this court to review the instant case.

Likewise, the cases cited by the appellate court as possibly having reached contrary rulings also fail to create conflict, regardless of the appellate court's mention of that possibility. Where cases are distinguishable on their facts, no express and direct conflict exists. *Department of Revenue v. Johnson*, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983). Each case cited by the Fifth DCA -- "to the extent [these cases] are contrary" -- includes an actual stop and search without founded suspicion or probable cause. In *Spann v. State*, 529 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the police officer approached the defendant and told him to "freeze, stop". When the defendant dropped contraband, the officer told the defendant

- 7 -

to put his hands on the hood of his car. The officer picked up the packet, recognized it was cocaine, then completely searched the defendant's person. *Id*. The appellate court held that the officer never had founded suspicion to make such a stop or seizure. *Id*. at 825-826. Additionally, all parties stipulated that the defendant dropped the cocaine as a direct result of the police officer's order. *Id*.

In Wallace v. State, 540 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the State conceded that there was an illegal stop and search. *Id*. The sole issue was "whether there was an abandonment". *Id*. The appellate court held that "when a police officer stops a defendant in his tracks without founded suspicion, and the defendant drops something, 'the state's abandonment theory is not persuasive.'" *Id*. at 255.

Finally, in Cox v. State, 586 So. 2d 1321 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the police officer stopped the defendant's car without founded suspicion for such a stop. The appellate court specifically found that "[i]t is clear that the appellant's act of abandoning or accidently dropping the marijuana was prompted by or the result of the officer's illegal stop...Since the initial stop was unlawful, the evidence seized as a result of that stop should have been suppressed". *Id.* at 1322.

It is apparent that each case which the Fifth DCA mentioned as possibly having a contrary result is easily distinguishable on the facts. Each one entailed either an actual physical stopping of the defendant's movements or an order by the police officer for the defendant to do something. None of those cases contains facts similar to the instant case. To the extent that cases which are distinguishable on their facts do not create conflict, nor does obiter dicta create conflict, this court should find that there is no conflict of law presented in the lower court's ruling and opinion.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, Respondent respectfully prays this honorable court affirm the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in all respects.